IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19-0911

STATE OF IOWA Plaintiff–Appellee,

VS.

ANTHONY ALEXANDER MONG, Defendant–Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE WILLIAM P. KELLY

APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW (Decision Date: February 16, 2022)

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

BRIDGET A. CHAMBERS

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) Bridget.chambers@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN SARCONE Polk County Attorney

OLUBUNMI SALAMI Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The State seeks further review of a decision of the Court of Appeals. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103.

Course of Proceedings

On April 5, 2019, a jury convicted Anthony Mong of attempted murder, in violation of Iowa Code section 707.11(1) (2017), intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent to injure or provoke fear, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.6 (2017), willful Injury causing bodily injury, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.4(1) (2017), and going armed with intent, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.8 (2017). Trial Information; Forms of Verdicts; App. 6-8, --. Mong filed a motion for a new trial, alleging that there was insufficient evidence to prove he had the requisite specific intent towards Shane Woods. Motion for New Trial; App. 70-81. The district court denied that motion. Order Denying Motion for New Trial; App. 82-83.

Mong appealed his convictions. Notice of Appeal; App. 89.

Mong raised three issues: a challenge to the district court's denial of his motion to compel witness testimony, a challenge to the racial

composition of his jury pool, and a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to support his convictions.

Mong's appeal was routed to the Court of Appeals. On February 16, 2022, a panel of that court reversed the district court in part and affirmed in part. The panel affirmed the district court's denial of Mong's motion to compel witness testimony. However, the panel reversed Mong's convictions for attempted murder, intimidation with a dangerous weapon, and willful injury causing bodily injury, finding insufficient evidence of the specific intent required for those charges. The district court conditionally affirmed Mong's conviction for going armed with intent. The panel remanded the case to the district court for development of the record on Mong's challenge to the composition of his jury. Slip Op. The State seeks further review of that portion of the panel's decision that reversed Mong's convictions.

Facts

Madison Cobb had been dating Anthony Mong but broke off their relationship in May of 2018. Mong had been jealous of Madison's friendship with Ricco Martin and had made a number of threats against him, including threats to shoot him. On June 1, 2018, Mong drove to the home where Madison lived with her family; Ricco Martin was visiting at the time. Mong shot in the direction of Ricco Martin. Shane Woods was near Ricco at the time and was shot through the back.

Twenty-two-year-old Madison Cobb lived with her parents

Heather and Todd Hines at their home at 8185 Franklin Avenue. Tr.

II, 45:18-46:4. Ms. Cobb started dating Anthony Mong in early

November of 2017. Tr. II, 46:16-47:13; 49:4-24. Madison and Mong's relationship was "very on and off." She broke up with Mong for the last time no more than two weeks before the date of the shooting. Tr.

II, 56:7-15; 58:10-20.

Todd and Heather Hines owned a semi-pro football team in Iowa and Ricco Martin played for their team. Ricco became friends with the whole family and would go to their home on occasion. Tr. II, 47:21-49:3; 92:6-93:25. Ricco would visit Madison's parents at their home and Madison would be home when Ricco visited. The defendant was not happy about that, and he voiced his displeasure to Madison. Tr. II, 49:25-50:17.

The year before the shooting, Ricco had received thirty to forty intimidating text messages from Mong, one after the other. Ricco

changed his phone number to avoid receiving further messages from Mong. Tr. II, 96:13-98:16.

Just before June 1, Ricco and Mong had an argument during which Mong told Ricco that "he wasn't going to fight me; he was going to shoot me." That was the last time Ricco saw Mong before June 1. Tr. II, 94:23-95:5; 96:6-9. Madison was present when the defendant and Ricco argued and she heard Mong's threat. Tr. II, 50:18-51:6.

Todd and Heather Hines also heard Mong make threats to Ricco. Within two weeks of June 1, Todd Hines heard Mong tell Ricco that he would not fight him; he was just going to shoot him. Tr. II, 208:21-210:4. A few weeks before the shooting, Heather Hines heard Mong threaten to beat up Ricco or just shoot him. Tr. II, 158:14-159:2, 164:7-23; 165:6-10.

Around 8:00 p.m. on June 1, 2018, Todd Hines, his nephew David Wood, David's father Shane Wood, and Ricco Martin were outside Todd's home. Todd's wife and children were inside the house. Tr. II, 210:5-25. Todd noticed Mong driving down the street in a Hyundai Sonata. Tr. II, 212:7-24. Todd saw Mong drive past his house, go around the corner, turn around and make his way back to

Todd's house. Todd thought, "Oh, boy, it's going to happen now." Tr. II, 212:25-213:18.

Todd ran inside to his bedroom, got his gun, and went back outside. He had the gun tucked into the back of his waistband. Tr. II, 214:2-24. When he first walked outside with his gun, Todd saw Mong walking into his driveway. He saw that Mong had a gun in his hand. Tr. II, 218:25-219:12. Todd thought Mong was going to shoot Ricco. Tr. II, 212:25-213:18. As Mong had driven past his house, Todd thought he had heard Mong rack the gun, chamber a bullet. Tr. II, 219:13-220:10; 223:16-23.

Todd saw Mong approaching his driveway and told him, "Don't do this." He repeated that warning twice. He ran into his house when the shooting started. Todd was just inside the door and looking out when he heard Mong fire two shots. Tr. II, 215:4-8; 218:17-24; 228:21-23. Todd told Shane to run because Mong was shooting. Shane replied, "I'm hit." Tr. II, 218:4-10; 220:14-221:1.

Shane Woods was in the front yard of the Hines residence and saw that Mong was at the driveway with a gun pulled. Tr. II, 242:10-243:25, 244:1-20. Shane did not have any ongoing conflict with Mong so, when he saw that Mong had a gun, he did not run, he merely

turned around to walk back towards the house. He heard a shot and then realized he had been shot in his back. Tr. II, 243:4-13, 244:21-245:2. At the time he was shot, Shane was approximately six to eight feet from Ricco Martin. Tr. III, 25:15-27:11.

Ricco Martin saw Mong jump out of the car and run behind a tree. Then, he saw Mong's arm reach around the tree and shoot. Shane Woods was hit. Tr. II, 100:12-101:21; 114:5-13. Ricco ran to Shane's aid. Tr. II, 101:22-25. Ricco believed that Mong was trying to shoot him instead of Shane. Tr. II, 102:20-23.

David Woods saw Anthony Mong drive by in a dark blue or black Hyundai. Mong gave the men "a little stare down" as he drove by. David could see in Mong's face that something was going to happen, so he went to the garage and grabbed a ball bat. Tr. II, 174:8-177:11; 181:14-19. While David was in the garage, he heard a gunshot, heard his uncle say, "He's got a gun," then heard his dad yell, "I'm hit. I'm hit." Tr. II, 177:12-19. David immediately left the garage. He saw that his dad was bleeding, and he chased after Mong with the baseball bat. Mong got into his car and sped off. Tr. II, 177:14-179:1; 180:5-12.

Madison Hines heard a gunshot. She opened the door and saw Mong open the door to Rachael Janousek's Hyundai Sonata, get in, and drive off. Madison was familiar with the car and had ridden in it with Mong "plenty of times." Tr. II, 46:5-15, 51:7-55:9; 58:21-25.

Madison then noticed her uncle Shane Woods leaning up against the garage, bleeding. Tr. II, 55:10-17.

Rachael Janousek is the fiancée of the defendant. Tr. II, 75:15-77:23. On June 1, Mong and his friend Brandon Henlon dropped Janousek off at work in her Hyundai Sonata. Tr. II, 78:4-80:22; 87:17-88:1. Ms. Janousek's boss verified that she clocked out of work at 9:47 p.m. on June 1. Tr. III, 77:8-21.

Willie Carl McClairen, Jr. was one of the attending trauma surgeons when Shane Woods was brought into the emergency room at about 9:10 p.m. Tr. III, 8:25-9:17, 11:3-8; 14:20-15:4. He testified that Shane was shot in the back of his lower left chest and the bullet traveled through his chest cavity and exited through the front. Dr. McClairen testified that there are vital organs throughout the chest – the heart, lungs, major blood vessels – and if the bullet had struck any of those Shane could have died. Tr. III, 12:3-13:7.

Anthony Mong testified at his trial. He had a red Cadillac stored at the Hines residence. While Mong and Madison were still dating, they planned to fix the Cadillac because they needed a car. Todd

Hines was going to help them. Tr. IV, 20:24-23:16. After Mong and Madison broke up, Mong wanted his car back. Tr. IV, 23:17-24. On May 31, 2018, Mong went to the Hines residence and spoke with Todd. Todd told Mong to return over the weekend to get the car. Tr. IV, 24:3-17.

Mong testified that on the evening of June 1, 2018, he and Brandon Henlon dropped Janousek off at her job, then decided to go to the Hines residence to pick up the Cadillac. Tr. IV, 25:21-28:2, 28:3-34:1. Mong saw Todd Hines, Ricco Martin, Shane Woods, and David Woods outside the Hines residence. Mong testified that he started to pull into the driveway, but then realized that would block the Cadillac in, so he drove on, turned around in a nearby school area, returned to Hines' house, and parked in front of a large tree in the Hines' yard. Tr. IV, 30:2-5; 31:25-33:16.

Mong testified that he told Henlon to stay in the car and he got out of the car. He was holding his cell phone in his hand. As he walked, Mong noticed that Todd Hines had a gun. Mong testified that he saw Ricco Martin "go for" Todd's gun and that is when Mong ducked behind the tree. Mong testified that, "I felt like I was going to get shot." Tr. IV, 33:17–37:7.

Mong stated that he heard a shot fired from the direction of the group of people in Hines' yard. Then, he heard a second shot fired from behind him. Tr. IV, 37:8-38:9; 59:2-18; 63:13-64:14. The shot came from the Hyndai Sonata that Mong drove to the scene. Tr. IV, 81:21-82:17. He testified, though, that Henlon never got out of the car. Tr. IV, 62:9-20. He also testified that he did not know that Henlon had a gun and had not seen it while the two were in the car together. Tr. IV, 90:13-91:10.

Mong testified that the group of people started to disperse, and he ran to the car, got into the driver's seat, and sped away. Tr. IV, 38:2-25. He testified that when he got into the car, he saw that Henlon had a gun in his hand. Tr. IV, 39:1-8. Mong testified that he did not see anyone get shot at the Hines residence. Tr. IV, 39:9-11.

Mong was arrested in Las Vegas two months later. During the two months he was there, he did not try to contact authorities in Iowa to report that Henlon had shot Shane because Henlon was his best friend and Mong thought that Henlon had saved his life. Tr. IV, 42:15-43:5; 79:21-80:10; 81:13-20. Henlon died in February of 2019, before trial. Mong did not tell anyone before Henlon died that it was Henlon who shot Shane Woods or that Henlon had fired the second

shot, though he did testify that he had told his lawyer. Tr. IV, 55:12-15; 85:20-90:6.

Additional facts will be discussed where relevant to the State's argument, below.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court Should Grant Further Review to Clarify the Manner in Which the Doctrine of Transferred Intent Should be Submitted to a Jury and to Determine Whether There is Sufficient Evidence to Support Mong's Convictions for Attempted Murder, Intimidation with a Dangerous Weapon with Intent, and Willful Injury Causing Bodily Injury

Preservation of Error

Mong's motions for judgment of acquittal made at the close of the State's case and at the close of all the evidence were adequate to preserve error. *See*, Tr. III, 175:6-185:23; Tr. IV, 101:23-104:7.

Standard of Review

The Court reviews a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence for correction of errors of law. If the verdict is supported by substantial evidence, the Court will uphold a finding of guilt. "Substantial evidence" is that upon which a rational trier of fact could find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Henderson*, 696 N.W.2d 5, 7 (Iowa 2005); *State v. Hagedorn*, 679 N.W.2d 666, 668-69 (Iowa 2004).

Merits

This Court should grant further review for three reasons. First, the Court should resolve whether the manner in which the doctrine of transferred intent was submitted to Mong's jury permitted the jury to convict Mong of the attempted murder, intimidation with a dangerous weapon, and willful injury based upon evidence that Mong intended to kill, intimidate, and injure someone other than the person whom Mong shot. Second, if the instructions on transferred intent were inadequate, the Court should take further review to clarify the proper manner to instruct on that issue. Third, the Court should grant further review to vacate the opinion of the Court of Appeals and affirm Mong's convictions¹.

Mong challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support his convictions for attempted murder, intimidation with a dangerous weapon, and willful injury causing bodily injury. He does not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support his conviction for going armed with intent. He challenges the sufficiency of the evidence

¹ The Court of Appeals reversed Mong's convictions for attempted murder, intimidation with a dangerous weapon, and willful injury causing bodily injury, but conditionally affirmed Mong's conviction for going armed with intent. Slip Op. at 20.

to prove that he shot a firearm and to prove the specific intent elements of the three challenged convictions. The Court of Appeals reversed three of Mong's convictions on the basis that there was insufficient evidence of specific intent under the specific instructions given in this case. This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals' ruling and affirm Mong's convictions as the Court's ruling rests on an erroneous interpretation of the jury instructions submitted to Mong's jury.

Each of the challenged convictions contain a specific intent element. For purposes of the charge of attempted murder, Mong's jury was instructed that the State was required to prove that Mong specifically intended to cause the death of Shane Woods. *See*, Jury Instr. No. 17; App. 40. For purposes of the charge of intimidation with a dangerous weapon, the jury was instructed that the evidence must prove that Mong had the specific intent to injure or cause fear or anger in Shane Woods. *See*, Jury Instr. No. 23; App. 44. To prove that Mong committed willful injury, the jury was instructed that the State was required to show that Mong specifically intended to cause a serious injury to Shane Woods. *See*, Instruction No. 25; App. 46.

The prosecution's theory of the case was that Mong shot at Ricco Martin but hit Shane Woods. Accordingly, the district court also instructed the jury on the doctrine of transferred intent. *See*, Jury Instr. No. 16; App. 39.

Mong's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to support his convictions is based the language of the jury instructions: the marshalling instructions stated that the State was required to prove that Mong intended to act upon Shane Woods, while the evidence showed that Mong intended to act upon Ricco Martin. Mong's argument would require the Court to consider the marshalling instructions in isolation, rather than considering them in conjunction with the district court's instruction on transferred intent. A panel of the Court of Appeals did just that.

The Court reversed Mong's convictions for attempted murder, intimidation with a dangerous weapon, and willful injury causing bodily injury on the basis that the marshalling instruction required specific intent to act upon Shane Woods and the State failed to prove that Mong's specific intent was directed at Woods. The Court's ruling is erroneous. It fails to properly consider the instruction given to Mong's jury on the doctrine of transferred intent.

The district court instructed Mong's jury that,

Under the doctrine of transferred intent, once the intent to inflict harm on one victim is established, the criminal intent transfers to any other victim who is actually assaulted. A party is liable for a wrongful act, where there exists a criminal intent, although the act done, is not that which was intended. The wrongful intent to do one act, is transposed to the other, and constitutes the same offense.

Jury Instruction No. 16; App. 39.

Under the doctrine of transferred intent, Mong was properly convicted of attempted murder of Shane Woods, intimidation of Woods with a dangerous weapon, and willful injury of Woods based upon his act of shooting at Ricco Martin with the intent to kill, seriously injury, and injure or cause fear and anger in Martin. The evidence at trial showed that Mong's intended target was Ricco Martin. Mong was nursing a deep grudge against Ricco because both men had been involved with Madison Cobb. Mong had made numerous threats to shoot Ricco. The evidence shows that Mong shot at Ricco Martin but hit Shane Woods who was near Ricco at the time. That evidence is summarized as follows.

Anthony Mong and Madison Cobb had an on-and-off-again dating relationship from November of 2107 until just before the shooting on June 1, 2018. During that time, Ricco Martin and

Madison Cobb were "friends with benefits." Tr. II, 46:16-47:13; 49:4-24; 94:3-7. Mong was not happy that Ricco would visit Madison at the family home and that Ricco would be there when he visited. Tr. II, 49:25-50:17.

Mong had threatened Ricco repeatedly. In the year before the shooting, Ricco had received thirty to forty intimidating text messages from Mong, one after the other. Ricco changed his phone number to avoid receiving further messages from Mong. Tr. II, 96:13-98:16. In the weeks before the shooting, Todd and Heather Hines also heard Mong threaten to shoot Ricco Martin. Tr. II, 163:21-23; 165:6-10. Just before June 1, 2018, Ricco and Mong had an argument, in the presence of Madison, during which Mong told Ricco that "he wasn't going to fight me; he was going to shoot me." That was the last time Ricco saw Mong before June 1. Tr. II, 50:18-51:6, 94:23-95:5; 96:6-9.

Around 8:00 p.m. on June 1, 2018, Todd Hines was outside in his yard with his nephew David Wood, David's father Shane Wood, and Ricco Martin. Tr. II, 210:5-25. Todd noticed Mong driving down the street in a Hyundai Sonata. Tr. II, 212:7-24. Todd saw Mong drive

past his house, go around the corner, turn around in the circle lot at the school and drive back towards Todd's house. Tr. II, 212:25-213:18.

When Mong drove past his house the first time, Todd had heard Mong rack the gun, chamber a bullet. Tr. II, 219:13-220:10; 223:16-23. Todd ran inside to his bedroom, got his gun, and went back outside. Tr. II, 214:2-24. When he first walked outside with his gun, Todd saw Mong walking into his driveway. He saw that Mong had a gun in his hand. Tr. II, 218:25-219:12. Todd thought Mong was going to shoot Ricco. Tr. II, 212:25-213:18.

Todd told Mong, "Don't do this." He repeated the warning twice. Then, Todd ran into the house but stayed just inside the door and continued to watch what was happening outside. He heard Mong fire two shots. Tr. II, 215:4-8; 218:17-24; 228:21-23. Todd turned around and told Shane to run because Mong was shooting. Shane said, "I'm hit." Tr. II, 218:4-10; 220:14-221:1.

Shane corroborated Todd Hines' account of events. Shane saw Mong drive by, pull up in front of the yard, but then drive on. He watched as Mong went around the corner, turned around, and came back. Tr. II, 242:10-243:25. This time, Mong stopped in front of the house, got out of the car, and walked to the back of the car. Shane

heard Todd say, "Don't Tony, don't." Shane looked and saw that Mong was at the driveway with a gun pulled. Tr. II, 244:1-20.

Shane "had no problems ... at all" with Mong. Tr. II, 243:4-13. When he saw that Mong had a gun, he did not run because he did not think he had a problem. Shane just turned around to walk back towards the house. Shane heard a shot and realized that he had been shot on the left side of his back. Tr. I, 244:21-245:2. At the time he was shot, Shane was approximately six to eight feet from Ricco Martin. Tr. III, 25:15-27:11; App. --.

Ricco Martin saw Mong jump out of the car, run behind a tree, and shoot. Shane was hit. Tr. II, 100:12-101:21. Ricco believed that Mong was trying to shoot him instead of Shane. Tr. II, 102:20-23.

David Woods saw Anthony Mong drive by the Hines house.

Mong gave the men "a little stare down" as he drove by. David saw

Mong turn around at the school, then Mong "cranked his music and
came back." Tr. II, 174:8-177:1. David could see in Mong's face that
something was going to happen, so he went to the garage and grabbed
a ball bat. Tr. II, 177:3-11; 181:14-19. While David was in the garage,
he heard a gunshot, heard his uncle say, "He's got a gun," then heard
his dad yell, "I'm hit. I'm hit." Tr. II, 177:12-19.

In his trial testimony, Mong denied that he had a gun with him, denied that he intended to shoot anyone at the Hines residence, denied that he intended to fight anyone there, and denied that he shot at anyone at the Hines residence. Tr. IV, 41:8-22. He testified that he was storing a red Cadillac at the Hines residence. Todd Hines had planned to help Mong and Madison fix up the car. After Mong and Madison broke up, Mong wanted his car back. Tr. IV, 20:16-23:24. Mong testified that after he got off work on June 1, 2018, he and Brandon Henlon went to the Hines residence to get his Cadillac. Tr. IV, 24:21-29-30:1.

Mong testified that when he got to the Hines residence, Todd Hines, Ricco Martin, and Shane and David Woods were outside. Mong pulled up in front of the house and parked behind a big tree in the yard. He told Henlon to stay in the car and then Mong got out with his cell phone in his hand. Mong testified that he saw that Todd had a gun. He saw Ricco grab the gun, so Mong ducked behind the tree. Tr. IV, 32:16-36:12; 43:6-13.

While he was behind the tree, Mong testified, he heard one shot fired from the direction of the men in the Hines' yard. Then, he heard a second shot. That shot was fired from behind Mong, from his car.

Mong ran back to the car and drove off. Tr. IV, 37:8-38:25; 82:9-17. Mong saw that Henlon had a gun in his hand. Tr. IV, 39:1-8.

The jury was free to disbelieve Mong's testimony that Brandon Henlon fired the shot that hit Shane Woods. *Shanahan*, 712 N.W.2d at 135. By its verdict, the jury showed that it did so.

The evidence overwhelmingly proved that it was Anthony Mong who shot Shane Woods. It also overwhelmingly proved the necessary intent elements. The evidence showed that Mong was angry with Ricco Martin and threatened to shoot him. About two weeks later Mong found Ricco at Todd Hines' home and tried to carry out that threat, though his aim was off. Mong's specific intent was shown by his earlier threats and by the fact that Mong first drove by the house and glared at the men outside, then turned around, parked, and got out with a gun. Mong ignored the entreaties from Todd Hines not to shoot, stayed at the scene even when he saw Todd also had a gun, and shot his weapon in the direction of Ricco Martin and Shane Woods. Thus, even though Mong's intent to kill, seriously injure, and cause fear or anger was directed at Ricco Martin, Mong was properly convicted of attempting to murder Woods, of intimidation of Woods with a dangerous weapon, and willful injury of Woods causing bodily

injury. *State v. Harlow*, 886 N.W.2d 106 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

(Affirming Harlow's conviction for assault where the evidence showed Harlow inadvertently struck a baby in the face and gave the baby a black eye while assaulting the baby's mother, who was holding the baby.).

A panel of the Court of Appeals, however, found the evidence insufficient to prove the specific intent elements of attempted murder, willful injury, and willful injury causing bodily injury. That ruling was erroneous. The Court of Appeals based its ruling on the language of the marshalling instructions for those three offenses, which required proof that Mong had specific intent directed at Shane Woods. That Court correctly noted that the State's theory of the case was that Mong intended to shoot at Ricco Martin and that the evidence at trial showed that Mong's specific intent was directed at Ricco Martin rather than Shane Woods. The panel erred, however, in finding insufficient evidence of the requisite specific intent. In reaching its conclusion, the panel failed to properly consider the jury instruction on transferred intent.

The Court of Appeals' ruling rests on the assumption that the marshalling instructions were required to state that "the intended

target of the offenses was *Ricco Martin* or 'Shane Woods *or another*'". Slip Op. at 19 (italics in original). Although there was no challenge to the marshalling instructions in the district court, the Court of Appeals found those instructions inadequate to permit conviction on the basis of transferred intent and, consequently, found insufficient evidence to support the jury's verdicts for attempted murder, intimidation with a dangerous weapon, and willful injury causing bodily injury. Slip Op. at 19-20. The Court erred.

First, the State notes that there are no uniform jury instructions that might have guided the district court in instructing the jury on the issue of transferred intent and there is no guidance from our appellate courts on the proper manner of instructing on that issue. Given the lack of guidance, the district court crafted clear, understandable, instructions that permitted the jury to determine whether Mong had the required specific intent toward Ricco Martin and, if they found that he did, to apply the doctrine of transferred intent to find that Mong had specific intent to cause the death of Shane Woods, injure or cause fear or anger in Shane Woods, and cause a serious injury to Shane Woods.

The panel of the Court of Appeals erred in reading the marshalling instructions in isolation. "Jury instructions are not considered separately; they should be considered as a whole." *State v. Kuhse*, 937 N.W.2d 622, 628 (Iowa 2020) (cleaned up). Furthermore, "the trial court has the right to choose its own language to explain applicable legal principles." *Conner*, 241 N.W.2d at 462 (cleaned up). Although it is necessary that the marshalling instruction include all elements of an offense, it is not necessary for those elements to be defined in the same instruction. *State v. Conner*, 241 N.W.2d 447, 462 (Iowa 1976). It is not essential that a marshalling instruction contain definitions or explanations of the elements which it lists. *Conner*, 241 N.W.2d at 463.

When the marshalling instructions on attempted murder, intimidation with a dangerous weapon, and willful injury are read with the instruction on transferred intent, they adequately instructed the jury that it could convict if it found that Mong had the required intents directed at Ricco Martin. *See, Conner*, 241 N.W.2d at 462 ("When the aiding and abetting instruction is read as a whole and the marshalling instruction is read in light of the aiding and abetting instruction, we believe they adequately inform the jury it could not

find defendant aided and abetted Nowlin unless he affirmatively encouraged or assisted Nowlin in the robbery."); State v. Uthe, 542 N.W.2d 810, 815 (Iowa 1996) ("It is well settled that a trial court need not instruct in a particular way so long as the subject of the applicable law is correctly covered when all the instructions are read together."); State v. Hensley, 672 N.W.2d 333 (Iowa Ct. App. 2003) (the district court did not err in setting out one element of homicide by vehicle in an instruction separate from the marshalling instruction); State v. Winfrey, 2001 WL 725439, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. June 29, 2001) (Trial counsel had no duty to object to the jury instructions on seconddegree murder. Although the marshalling instruction on Winfrey's lawful-act-justification defense did not include as an element the requirement that the State prove that intent to use the provoked force as an excuse to inflict injury, that element of the defense was included in a separate instruction and the instructions as a whole adequately stated the law.). When the sufficiency of the evidence is reviewed in light of the marshalling instructions together with the instruction on transferred intent, the evidence sufficiently proved that Mong acted with the requisite intent. Consequently, the decision of the court of

appeals should be vacated and Mong's convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

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