IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

IOWA SUPREME COURT NO. 19-0911

**STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,**

vs.

**ANTHONY ALEXANDER MONG,
Defendant-Appellant.**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE WILLIAM P. KELLY
JUDGE, FIFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Polk County No. FECR317295**

RESISTANCE TO APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW
(Iowa Court of Appeals Decision: February 16, 2022)

**CATHLEEN J. SIEBRECHT
SIEBRECHT LAW FIRM
222 Fifth Avenue, Suite 100
Des Moines, IA 50309
Phone: 515-288-4005
Email: Siebrechtlaw@gmail.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT**

PROOF OF SERVICE

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

ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY FOUND THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE OF A SPECIFIC INTENT TO HARM OR KILL SHANE WOODS AND, THUS, THERE IS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE CHARGES OF ATTEMPTED MURDER, INTIMIDATION WITH A DANGEROUS WEAPON, AND WILLFUL INJURY CAUSING BODILY INJURY.

“Sufficiency of the evidence claims are reviewed for correction of errors at law. The jury’s verdict is binding upon a reviewing court unless there is an absence of substantial evidence in the record to sustain it. Evidence is substantial if it would convince a rational trier of fact the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, we view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, including legitimate inferences and presumptions which may fairly and reasonably be deduced from the evidence in the record.” *State v. Hennings*, 791 N.W.2d 828, 832-33 (Iowa 2010). See also *Albright*, 925 N.W.2d at 150.

“Where, as here, the jury was instructed without objection, the jury instruction becomes the law of the case for the purposes of reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence.” *State v. Banes*, 910 N.W.2d 634, 639 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018). See also *State v. Canal*, 773 N.W.2d 528, 530 (Iowa 2009).

The jury instructions, and therefore the law in Mong's case, specifically required that the jury find that Mong specifically intended to do certain acts to Shane Woods as opposed to a general person in order for the jury to find Mong guilty of the crimes alleged, except for the lesser included offenses of Assault in Instruction No. 24 and Assault Causing Bodily Injury in Instruction No. 31.

ATTEMPT TO COMMIT MURDER:

“A person commits the offense of attempt to commit murder when, *with the intent to cause the death of another person* and not under circumstances which would justify the person's actions, the person does any act by which the person expects to set in motion a force or chain of events which will cause or result in the death of the other person.”
Iowa Code 707.11(1). (Emphasis added).

However, Jury Instruction No. 18, and therefore the law in this case, provided:

In Count I, the State must prove all the following elements of Attempt to Commit Murder:

1. On or about June 1, 2018, the Defendant, Anthony Alexander Mong shot Shane Woods with a firearm.
2. By his acts, the defendant, Anthony Alexander Mong expected to set in motion a force or chain of events which could have caused or resulted in the death of Shane Woods.
3. When the defendant acted, *he specifically intended to cause the death of Shane Woods.*

If the State has proved all of these elements, the defendant is guilty of attempt to commit murder.

If the State has failed to prove any one of the elements, the defendant is not guilty of attempt to commit murder and you will then consider

the offense of assault with intent to inflict serious injury as explained in Instruction No. 19.

(Jury Instructions) (App. 28-61). (Emphasis added.)

There was absolutely no evidence presented to the jury that Mong intended to cause the death of Shane Woods. None. That was not even the theory of the State's case against Mong. The State does not dispute this lack of evidence. The State's theory at trial and on appeal is Mong intended to shoot Ricco Martin. There was no evidence to support Mong's conviction of Attempt to Commit Murder.

INTIMIDATION WITH A DANGEROUS WEAPON:

“A person commits a class “C” felony when the person, with the intent to injure provoke fear or anger *in another*, shoots, throws, launches, or discharges a dangerous weapon at, into, or in a building, vehicle, airplane, railroad engine, railroad car, or boat, occupied by another person, or within an assembly of people, and thereby places the occupants or people in reasonable apprehension of serious injury or threatens to commit such an act under circumstances raising a reasonable expectation that the threat will be carried out.”

Iowa Code 708.6. (Emphasis added.)

Again, there is a major difference in the jury instructions.

Instruction No. 23 provides:

In Count II, the State must prove all of the following elements of Intimidation with a Dangerous Weapon with Intent:

- 1) On or about June 1, 2018, the defendant, Anthony Alexander Mong, intentionally shot a dangerous weapon within an assembly of people;
- 2) *Shane Woods* actually experienced fear of serious injury and his fear was reasonable under the existing circumstances;
- 3) The defendant shot the dangerous weapon *with the specific intent to injure or cause fear or anger in Shane Woods*.

If the State has proved all three of these elements, the defendant is guilty of intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent. If the State has proved elements 1 and 2, but not element 3, the defendant is guilty of the offense of intimidation with a dangerous weapon without intent. If the State has failed to prove any one of these elements, you will then consider the offenses of assault as explained in Instruction No. 24. (Jury Instructions) (App.28-61).

There is no evidence in this record that Shane Woods experienced fear of a serious injury. To the contrary, Shane testified that when Mong arrived he wasn't "too worried" as he "had no beef with him." There was no conflict between the two of them and he was not aware of any issues between Mong and the others. (Trial Trans. Vol. 2 p.244, Vol. 3 p.21-22, 27-28). Shane "turned around to walk back up towards the house and heard a shot" and he was hit on the left side of his back. (Trial Trans. Vol. 2 p.244-245). There is no evidence that he experienced fear of serious injury. Further, as argued above, there was no evidence that Mong intended to injure or

cause fear in Shane. They had no issues with one another. The State did not even theorize that Mong had such intent.

WILLFUL INJURY CAUSING BODILY INJURY

Any person who does an act which is not justified and which is intended to cause serious injury to another commits willful injury, which is punishable as follows . . . a class “D” felony, if the person causes bodily injury to another. Iowa Code 708.4 (Emphasis added).

Jury Instruction No. 17 provides:

In Count III, the State must prove all of the following elements of willful injury causing bodily injury:

1. On or about June 1, 2018, the defendant, Anthony Alexander Mong shot a firearm at Shane Woods.
2. The defendant *specifically intended to cause a serious injury to Shane Woods*.
3. Shane Woods sustained a bodily injury as a result of the defendant’s actions.

If you find the State has proved all of the elements, the defendant is guilty of willful injury causing bodily injury. If the State has failed to prove any one of the elements, you should go on to consider the offense of assault causing serious injury as set out in Instruction No. 29.

Once again, there was no evidence even presented by the State to cause a rational trier of fact to believe that Mong specifically intended to cause a serious injury to Shane Woods.

When viewing the

The State continues to argue its reliance on the transferred-intent instruction:

INSTRUCTION NO. 16

Under the doctrine of transferred intent, once the intent to inflict harm on one victim is established, the criminal intent transfers to any other victim who is actually assaulted. A party is liable for a wrongful act, where there exists a criminal intent, although the act done is not that which was intended. The wrongful intent to do one act, is transposed to the other, and constitutes the same offense.

(App. P. 39).

Because the instructions regarding the elements of each crime required the specific intent to be directed toward Shane Woods, not Ricco Martin and not some other person, no intent to inflict harm could be established. There is no “intent” to be transferred to any other person. Thus, Instruction No. 16 and the doctrine of transferred intent became irrelevant under the law of this case.

There is no need for this Court to grant further review to provide any additional clarification to the manner in which the issue of transferred intent should be instructed and submitted to the jury. The Court of Appeals explained had each of the jury instructions stated the intended target of the offenses was Ricco Martin; or had the

instructions provided the intended target was Shane Woods or another; the jury might have found a transferred intent to Shane Woods. The instructions did not do this. There was no wrongful intent toward Shane Woods that could be transposed to Ricco Martin or someone else. The State did not object to the wording of the instructions and did not offer an alternative. Therefore, it is the law of the case. For these reasons, the State's request for further review should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the Appellant, Anthony Alexander Mong, respectfully requests that this Court deny the State's request for further review.